
 

Burlington City Hall 
Council Chambers 
833 South Spruce Street 
Burlington, WA 98233 

 https://us02web.zoom.us/j/860922
15677 

Or go to zoom.com and enter 
meeting ID: 860 9221 5677 
 

Skagit Transit 
Board of Directors 

Agenda 

Regular Meeting 
December 21, 2022 

11:00 a.m. 

 
1. CALL TO ORDER 

 
2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

 
3. ROLL CALL OF MEMBERS 

 
4. PUBLIC COMMENT 

 
5. CONSENT / ACTION ITEMS 

 
All matters listed within the Consent Agenda have been distributed to each member of the Skagit Transit 
Board of Directors for reading and study, are considered to be routine, and will be enacted by one motion 
of the Board with no separate discussion.  If separate discussion is desired, that item may be removed from 
Consent Action Items and placed on Regular Action Items by request. 

 
a) Approval of November Meeting Minutes ............................................................................. Page 2-7 
b) Approval of Claims and Payroll 

November Payroll Direct Deposit and Checks #17038 – 17046 ................................... $878,288 
November Direct Federal withholding transfer.................................................................. $183,470 
November Claims Checks and ACH #43459 – #43624 ............................................... $1,317,077 

 
6. FULL DISCUSSION/ACTION ITEMS 

a) Monthly Budget Update Report for November .................................................................. Page 8-9 
b) Approve Resolution 2022-15 Fiscal Year 2022 Budget Amendment ....................... Page 10-11 
c) Public Hearing for 2023 Budget 
d) Approve Resolution 2022-16 Fiscal Year 2023 Budget ............................................... Page 12-14 

 
7. COMMUNITY ADVISORY COMMITTEE REPORT 

a) CAC Meeting Minutes ................................................................................................................... Page 15 
 

8. NEW BUSINESS 

a) Election of Vice-Chair 

9. EXECUTIVE SESSION 

10. INFORMATION ITEMS 

a) FY 2023 Budget 
b) November Ridership Report 
 

11. ADJOURNMENT 

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/86092215677
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/86092215677


 
RECORD OF THE PROCEEDINGS 

SKAGIT TRANSIT BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
 

Tuesday, November 22, 2022 
 
The Skagit Transit Board of Directors met for a Special Meeting in Burlington, WA and via teleconference. Chair 
Commissioner Janicki called the meeting to order at 12:01 p.m. followed by the Pledge of Allegiance, roll call, and 
introductions.  
 

Members Present  Staff Present 
Lisa Janicki, Skagit County Commissioner (Chair) 
Peter Browning, Skagit County Commissioner  
Steve Sexton, City of Burlington, Mayor 
Ron Wesen, Skagit County Commissioner  
Jose Reeves, Labor Representative (non-voting member) 
 
 
Members Present via Teleconference 
Jill Boudreau, City of Mount Vernon, Mayor  
Julia Johnson, City of Sedro Woolley, Mayor 
Matt Miller, City of Anacortes, Mayor (Vice-Chair) 
Judy Jones, Community Advisory Committee (Chair, non-
voting member) 
 
 
Members Absent: 
Mark Hulst, City of Mount Vernon, Councilmember 
 
 
Providing Legal Counsel: 
None 

Dale O’Brien, Executive Director 
Chris Stamey, Manager of Finance & Administration 
Greg Latham, Maintenance Manager 
Mark Kennedy, Operations Manager 
Joe Macdonald, Safety & Training Manager 
Jennifer Davidson, HR Manager 
Marcy Smith, Grants Coordinator 
Brad Windler, Planning & Outreach Supervisor 
Nicolas Bergman, IT Technician 
Abby Bissel, Human Resources Generalist 
Alan Brooks, Operations Supervisor 
Les O’Neill, Operations Supervisor 
Whitney Davis, Clerk to the Board 
 
 
Staff Present via Teleconference: 
Aggie Juarez, Facilities Manager 
Jim Young, Operations Supervisor 
Hailie Hotchkiss, Operations Supervisor 
Jill Isaacson, Operations Supervisor 
Melinda Hunter, Operations Supervisor 
Jo-Ann Wynne, Contracts & Procurement Coordinator 
Mika-Ela Bergman, Maintenance Support Technician 
 
Members of Public Present 
Bonnie Beddall 
 
Members of the Public Present via Teleconference: 
Mark Holcombe, Evergreen Solutions, LLC  
Chris Jones, CAC 

  
 
1     Public Comment:   
 
Mr. Jones shared his support for the work being done and his appreciation for support from the Board. Mr. Jones 
also shared his desire to see individuals with disabilities represented in the agency. Lastly, Mr. Jones suggested 
staff look into a partnership with other organizations to coordinate addition training for drivers. 
 
2     Consent / Action Items: 

a) Approval of October Meeting Minutes 
b) Approval of Claims and Payroll 

October Payroll Direct Deposit and Checks #17029 – 17037 ........................................................ $986,381 
October Direct Federal withholding transfer ...................................................................................... $181,814 
October Claims Checks and ACH #43341 – 43458........................................................................... $408,600 
 

Mr. Wesen moved to approve all Consent / Action items. Mr. Sexton seconded the motion. The motion 
passed unanimously. 
 
 

3     Full Discussion/Action Items: 



 
 
 
 

 Board of Directors Special Meeting Minutes November 22, 2022 
 
 
 
 

   
a) Monthly Budget Update Report for October 

 
Mr. Stamey read the report as presented in the agenda packet. Items of note include Skagit Transit 
received $1,500,300 in sales tax in the month of October. Skagit Transit also received $320,438 in Federal 
Operating grants. Mr. Stamey stated Capital expenditures included MOA-2 Construction Management 
Costs and noted the roof is close to completion. Fuel is currently $245,249 over the budgeted amount, 
salaries and wages are trending at $34,235 under budget and benefits are trending at $25,043.72 under 
budget. Mr. Stamey stated he will prepare a budget amendment for the December meeting that will 
encompass fuel expenses and overtime expenses. The reserve account balance is $21,087,516.  
 
Mr. Wesen moved to approve the October Monthly Budget Update as presented. Ms. Johnson seconded 
the motion.  The motion passed unanimously. 
 
 
b) Public Transportation Agency Safety Plan 

 
Mr. Macdonald read the report as presented in the agenda packet. Approval of this plan is an annual 
requirement, this year however additional requirements per the size of the agency require that the plan is 
developed in coordination with representatives of frontline employees, and must include strategies to 
minimize exposure of the public, personnel, and property to hazards and unsafe conditions, and must be 
consistent with guidelines of the CDC or a state health authority to minimize exposure to infectious 
diseases.  
 
Ms. Janicki inquired if there was input received on the plan from the committee. Mr. Macdonald stated 
there were very few recommendations and suggestions from the committee. Most of the update was in 
regards to the exposure plan. 

 
Mr. Wesen moved to approve the Public Transportation Agency Safety Plan. Mr. Browning seconded the 
motion. The motion passed unanimously. 

  
 

c) Resolution 2022-13 Authorizing Approval of Procurement Policy Revision 
 

 Mr. Stamey read the report as presented in the agenda packet. State auditors suggested that Skagit 
Transit modify the procurement policy to clarify that Architectural and Engineering (A&E) services do not 
have a threshold.  
 
Mr. Wesen inquired if this revision would affect any future or past decisions. Ms. Janicki confirmed that 
the revision was a request from the auditors for clarification by adding “no threshold” to the title. Mr. 
Stamey stated he did not think this would affect anything and he believes it was just a suggestion from the 
auditors.  
 
Ms. Boudreau inquired if there was an electronic procurement option and stated the City of Mount 
Vernon recently transitioned to electronic procurement. Mr. Stamey stated he was unsure, but would look 
into that option. 
 
 Mr. Browning moved to approve Resolution 2022-13 authorizing approval of the procurement policy 
revision. Ms. Johnson seconded the motion.  The motion passed unanimously. 

 
 
d) Approval of New Community Advisory Committee Member 

 
 Mr. Windler read the report as presented in the agenda packet. The CAC is requesting approval to add a 
new member, John Norman. 
 



 
 
 
 

 Board of Directors Special Meeting Minutes November 22, 2022 
 
 
 
 

Ms. Johnson shared her appreciation for the individual’s willingness to volunteer and serve on the 
committee. 
 
Ms. Johnson moved to approve the addition of a new Community Advisory Committee Member. Mr. 
Sexton seconded the motion.  The motion passed unanimously. 
 
 
e) Approve Design and Engineering of New Bus Stops 

 
Mr. Windler read the report as presented in the agenda packet. Staff is looking to construct two new bus 
stops in locations that will require significant engineering support to be compliant with ADA standards. 
The bus stop locations will be at the Swinomish Casino and along Marketplace Drive in Burlington. 
Funding for this project was included in the 2022 budget. 
 
Ms. Janicki inquired if the design of these stops was site-specific and if the design could be utilized in 
other locations as well. Mr. Windler explained the engineering for these bus stop locations was very site 
specific and concerns of jurisdiction, storm water management, pedestrian crossing concerns, utilities and 
the grade of the ground made the design and engineering of these stops very site-specific and would not 
allow the design to be used elsewhere. 
 
Mr. Sexton clarified that the expense presented only included the engineering costs and noted the 
excessive expense for these projects. Mr. Sexton inquired how the cost for these projects was calculated. 
Mr. Windler explained that the former engineering firm provided the figure for the cost and explained that 
the grant for this project was structured so that any extra funding could support construction costs.  
 
Mr. Wesen inquired who requested these stops be added. Mr. Windler explained that the request came 
from riders, suggestions from the Operations Department and the Swinomish Casino have requested these 
stops. Currently, the bus picks up in the parking lot at the Swinomish Casino and it is unsafe and 
depending on where cars are parked makes it difficult for the bus to get turned around. Mr. O’Brien added 
that the location jurisdiction requires engineering for the project.  Mr. Windler also explained that he met 
with the Director of Community Development, and this was his recommendation as well. Mr. Wesen 
clarified that the entrance to the hotel has too small of a turning radius for the buses.  Mr. O’Brien noted 
the Skagit Casino would not allow Skagit Transit to service near the door. 
 
Mr. Sexton inquired if there was any planning or discussion with the Burlington School District regarding 
the location on Whitmarsh as school buses pick up and drop off students in that location as well. Mr. 
Windler stated he would contact them regarding the project. 

 
Ms. Johnson moved to approve the design and engineering of new bus stops. Mr. Wesen seconded the 
motion. The motion passed unanimously. 

 
 

f) Approve Purchase of One Service Truck 
 

Mr. Latham read the report as presented in the agenda packet. Staff is requesting to purchase a 
 replacement F450 truck for the Maintenance Department. Funds for this purchase were included in the 
 2022 budget. 

 
Ms. Janicki inquired if there would be any additional expenses to add on any supplementary equipment 
that might be needed. Mr. Latham explained this price encompassed all the additional equipment 
necessary, including a 6,000-pound crane and the toolbox. 

  
Mr. Wesen moved to approve the purchase of one service truck. Mr. Browning seconded the motion. The 
motion passed unanimously. 
 
 
g) Evergreen Compensation Study Overview 



 
 
 
 

 Board of Directors Special Meeting Minutes November 22, 2022 
 
 
 
 

 
Mark Holcombe presented an overview of the findings from the Evergreen Solutions, LLC. Compensation 
Study. Mr. Holcombe explained that cost of living was factored into comparisons from different areas and 
the average response rate was six matches per position. The study determined the average market 
differential was 15%-18% under market, after cost-of-living factors were considered.  
 
Mr. Holcombe stated the recommendation of Evergreen Solutions included the adoption of an adjusted 
pay plan and to apply the market adjustment to employees to place them within their newly recommended 
pay grades and new scales to keep employee’s market competitive.  
 
Mr. Sexton noted the weight of the increases are weighted at the top end of the salary schedule. Mr. 
Holcombe explained the higher positions in the organizations were low comparatively, there was some 
variation of increases across the agency and some positions did receive larger increases, however most of 
the adjustments were in lower and mid-level employees. Mr. Holcombe stated they matched positions 
according to the market in the way that peer agencies are compensating. 
 
Mr. Miller requested information on the overall budget impact and if that was calculated based on being 
fully staffed. 
 
Mr. Stamey stated the cost of bringing employees to current step at market would cost $1,539,003, which 
included FICA and Retirement. Mr. Stamey explained Skagit Transit has received two new, long-term 
operating grants. The first is a federal formula grant in the amount of $5.4 million with a 50% match, the 
other state grant is in the amount of $1.3 million with no match required. Mr. Stamey explained that would 
provide $2.6 million in expense covered with grant funding. The federal grant starts in 2023 and is good 
for 16 years as a result of offering free youth ridership. Mr. Stamey stated there is stable operating funding 
to bring employees to market. 
 
Mr. Stamey explained staff is requesting to implement the salary study December 1, 2022 so that 
employees will be able to see the result of the study, then the result of applying a modest cost-of-living 
increase in January 2023. 
 
Ms. Boudreau requested clarification on the cost-of-living metric used to compare Pierce and Kitsap 
counties. Mr. Holcombe stated the cost-of-living information was determined by the Council for 
Community and Economic Research which is a national cost-of-living provider that determines the cost to 
purchase a variety of life expenses in a particular area. 
 
Ms. Boudreau stated using 17 comparative agencies seemed like a very large pool. Mr. Holcombe 
explained some positions were transit specific, but other positions are competing with other markets in 
addition to those in the transit industry and noted there was an average of six matches per position. 
 
Ms. Janicki noted Skagit County is also going through a compensation study currently, and the cost of 
living was a very large differential, so to normalize data Skagit County is also evaluating cost-of-living 
adjustments for the different regional areas.  
 
Mr. Wesen inquired if the positions were all comparing 40-hour work weeks. Mr. Holcombe stated that 
data was considered and factored that into consideration. 
 
Ms. Janicki noted the budget impact for 2023 but requested information on the budget impact for the 
December 1, 2022 implementation. Mr. Stamey stated he is going to present a budget amendment for fuel 
and overtime expenses and will include the $108,000 impact for the December implementation of the 
compensation study. 
 
Mr. Sexton noted there is not enough time to absorb the information presented. Ms. Boudreau reiterated 
the concern of how quickly this would be implemented without enough time to understand everything 
presented.  
 



 
 
 
 

 Board of Directors Special Meeting Minutes November 22, 2022 
 
 
 
 

Ms. Janicki noted Coach Operators adjustment is roughly 40% and a large amount of this adjustment is 
due to the Operators being underpaid. Mr. Stamey stated Operators will see an increase of $3 to $5 per 
hour.  
 
Mr. Wesen inquired if implementing the adjustment would affect the MOA-2 project. Mr. O’Brien clarified 
that grant funding would cover the compensation study. Mr. Stamey noted the grants are Operating grants 
and the MOA-2 is a capital project. Mr. Sexton noted this is a long-term concern and the Board needs to 
ensure these Operating funds will not be needed elsewhere down the road. Ms. Janicki noted her support 
for applying new money into employees, with the risk of losing employees with several options to go 
somewhere else.  
 
Ms. Janicki noted other points of the report included information regarding benefits and retirement. Mr. 
Sexton clarified the 2023 preliminary budget included the expense of the wages proposed with the 
compensation study as well as the expenses included for the transition to Department of Retirement 
Systems.  
 
Mr. Sexton noted his request for additional time to go over the results. Ms. Boudreau clarified that figures 
presented today are not projected to keep up with a new budget adopted January 1st and would be 
adjusted again January 1, 2023, to include a cost-of-living adjustment. Ms. Boudreau shared her 
preference to adopt all at one time with a January implementation. Mr. Miller echoed his desire to have 
more time to review this information and noted his understanding of the difficulty of approving the 2023 
budget without know the compensation rates prior to the December meeting. 
 
Mr. Reeves stated he has applied for and been offered three different transit jobs in the last month and 
noted Skagit Transit offers between $4 - $7 less per hour. Mr. Reeves also noted he saw several other 
Skagit Transit employees at the interviews.  
 
Ms. Boudreau noted the Board’s support for the retention bonuses and the big effort to let employees 
know they were appreciated with the intention of making a giant correction in January. Ms. Boudreau 
echoed her concerns regarding comparisons from Pierce and Kitsap counties. Mr. Holcombe demonstrated 
removal of the cost-of-living adjustment made approximately a 1% difference. Mr. Miller noted his 
appreciation for the demonstration and added caution that overtime expenses will still need to be 
included.  

 
h) Approve Resolution 2022-14 Implementing Compensation Study Findings 

 
 Staff is requesting Board approval to implement the compensation schedule as presented and 
 recommended by evergreen Solutions, LLC. Items of note included a review of current compensation 
 policies, practices, and job descriptions and salary market survey and analysis. After reviews of market 
 comparable peer agencies, Evergreen found Skagit Transit was 17-19% behind market and is 
 recommending the adoption of a revised salary schedule as presented. 
 

Mr. Wesen moved to approve the Resolution 2022-14 implementing compensation study findings. Ms. 
Janicki seconded the motion. The motion passed with Ms. Boudreau opposed. 

 
 

i) Approve Amendment to Resolution 2022-09 for the Adoption of Department of Retirement Systems 
 

Ms. Davidson read the report as presented in the agenda packet. This amendment includes a request for 
Board approval to allow Skagit Transit to share in the cost of purchasing previous service credits. Mr. 
Stamey added the budget impact would be up to $380,000 over a period of five years if every employee 
decided to purchase all previous service credits and added that the expense would be eligible for 
reimbursement by grant funding. 
 
Ms. Boudreau shared her support. Mr. Wesen inquired if this would be a one-time expense. Mr. Stamey 
clarified individuals have up to five years to purchase service credits and the maximum agency 
contribution would be $380,000. 



Board of Directors Special Meeting Minutes November 22, 2022 

Ms. Boudreau moved to approve the amendment to Resolution 2022-09 for the adoption of Department 
of Retirement Systems. Mr. Sexton seconded the motion. The motion passed unanimously. 

5     Community Advisory Committee Report 

A report of the Community Advisory Committee (CAC) Meeting minutes was included in the agenda 
packet. Ms. Jones shared her appreciation for the approval of the new CAC member, noted the officer 
elections took place, shared the recruitment efforts for additional members which will include CAC 
members staffing a table at Skagit Station to help recruit members as well as work with Customer Service 
to assist passengers.  

Mr. Stamey briefly noted highlights included in the 2023 Preliminary Budget that was provided to Board members. 

Commissioner Janicki adjourned the meeting at 1:41 p.m. 

____________________________________________________ 
Lisa Janicki, Chair Skagit Transit Board of Directors 

Attest: 

__________________________________________ 
Whitney Davis, Clerk of Skagit Transit Board 



Skagit Transit Board Meeting 
December 21, 2022 

 

SKAGIT TRANSIT 
 
TO:  Skagit Transit Board of Directors 
 
FROM:  Chris Stamey, Chief Financial Officer 
 
SUBJECT: Budget Update for November 2022 
 
 
INFORMATION:  The monthly budget reports are presented for your review.  Items of interest are: 
 
 

Revenues: 
 
Sales Tax: 
Skagit Transit received $1,494,792 in sales tax revenues for the month of November 2022. This is 12.7% 
higher than the $1,326,386 received in November 2021, and 19.2% higher than the $1,253,814 received 
in November 2020. Fiscal Year 2022 totals so far are 10.1% higher than 2021 and 29.1% higher than 
2020.  

 
 2022 2021 2020 

November 1,494,792 1,326,386 1,253,814 
Jan-Nov 15,190,540 13,800,454 11,770,617 

 
Federal Operationg Grants: 
We received $78,372 in Federal Operating Grant Revenue in November.  America Rescue Plan Act 
funding was depleted and $0 in CARES (Coronavirus Aid Relief Economic Security) funding.  
 

 Fare Revenue: 
  

 2022 2021 2020 2019 
November 46,686 52,187 45,152 78,874 

Jan-Nov 619,304 548,218 524,855 853,066 
Budget 592,964 545,000 1,084,850 884,850 

 
Currently fare revenue is trending 4.0% or $26,340 above budget projections for Jan – November 2022. 
Fare revenue is budgeted at 3.3% of 2022 total operating expense budget. 
 
Expenses:  
 
♦ Capital 

o MOA 2 Construction Management Costs  - $20,748. 

♦ Fuel – Currently  $367,005 over the annual budgeted amount of $957,600. 

o We are spending an average of $120,419 per month on fuel.  

♦ Salaries/Wages are $794,626 under budget 

♦ Benefits are $511,630 under budget   

♦ All other expenses were as expected 



Skagit Transit Board Meeting 
December 21, 2022 

 
 

Ending Cash: 

November 2022 November 2021 November 2020 

7,891,470 4,672,355 5,752,997 

 

 

Reserves: 
 

 November 2022 November 2021 November 2020 
Operating  5,071,266 5,020,047 5,014,882 
Facilities   10,400,000 4,400,000              400,000 
Capital Replacement  4,150,833 4,010,651 2,506,437 
Non-Designated  1,519,555  1,504,422  1,502,874 
TOTAL          21,141,654 14,935,120  9,424,193 

 
              

MOA2 Phase 1 Construction Finances Update: 
 

Construction Contractor: HB Hansen Construction Inc.  
Original Contract Amount: $2,885,000 + Tax  
Total Approved Change Orders:  $1,553,775 

1. $4,458     Electrical, concrete  site wall, and slab patching 
2. $17,773     HSS Column in conflict with existing, CFS brackets 
3. $40,136     Slab patch hooks, footing RFI, material cost escalations 
4. $6,408      Gate hardware, roof insulation mockup 
5. $1,485,000  New Roofing  

Total payment to Contractor: $2,448,040 
Project % of completion: 40%  

 
RECOMMENDATION: Staff recommends the Board approve the monthly budget report. 

 



 Skagit Transit Board Meeting 
December 21, 2022 

 
SKAGIT TRANSIT 

 
 
TO:  Skagit Transit Board of Directors 
 
FROM:  Chris Stamey, Chief Financial Officer 
 
SUBJECT: Approve Resolution No. 2022-15 Fiscal Year 2022 Budget Amendment 
 
 
INFORMATION: 

 
The 2022 Budget was approved by the Board of Directors during the December 2021 
Board meeting. The following information summarizes revenue and expenditure 
projections and presents additional information to request modifications to the original 
budget.   
 
 

 

Operating Revenues: Modified Budget Amended 
Budget Increase/(Decrease) 

Sales Taxes $14,000,000 $15,022,000 $1,022,000 
Total Changes - Operating 
Revenues   $1,022,000 

     

Operating Expenses: Modified Budget Amended 
Budget Increase/(Decrease) 

Other Salaries and Wages $4,376,621 $4,776,621 $400,000 

Gasoline $120,000 $130,000 $10,000 

Ultra-Low Sulfur Fuel $658,000 $1,098,000 $440,000 

Lubricants $28,100 $48,100 $20,000 

Tires and Tubes $90,000 $132,000 $42,000 

Software $326,000 $436,000 $110,000 

Total Changes - Operating 
Expenses   $1,022,000 

 
 

RECOMMENDATION: 

Staff requests approval of Resolution No. 2022-15 amending the Fiscal Year 2022 Budget. 
 
 

 
 



Skagit Transit Board Meeting 
December 21, 2022 

  
 

RESOLUTION NO. 2022-15 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE SKAGIT TRANSIT BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
APPROVING AMENDMENT OF THE FISCAL YEAR 2022 BUDGET 

 
WHEREAS, Resolution 2021-07 approved the annual budget for Fiscal Year 2022; and 
 
WHEREAS, it has become necessary to amend the Fiscal Year 2022 Budget. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED AND IT IS HEREBY ORDERED, by the Board of Directors 
of Skagit Transit that the 2022 Budget is hereby amended as follows: 

  
  
 Operating Budget 

Modified 
Budget Amended  Increase/(Decrease) 

Revenues $23,080,926 $24,102,926 $1,022,000 

Expenses $17,519,962 $18,541,962 $1,022,000 
    

Capital Budget    

Revenues $3,433,897   

Expenses $14,990,571   
 

PASSED in open public meeting this 21st day of December 2022. 
 
       SKAGIT TRANSIT SYSTEM 
       SKAGIT COUNTY, WASHINGTON 
 
 
         _____________________________ _ _ 

    Lisa Janicki, Chair Skagit Transit Board of Directors 
 
 
          _____________________ ___________ 
           Dale S. O'Brien, Chief Executive Officer 
ATTEST TO FORM: 
 
      
Whitney Davis, Clerk of Skagit Transit 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
      
Dannon C. Traxler, Counsel to Skagit Transit  
 



Skagit Transit Board Meeting 
December 21, 2022 

SKAGIT TRANSIT 
 

 
TO:  Skagit Transit Board of Directors 
 
FROM:  Chris Stamey, Chief Financial Officer 
 
SUBJECT: Approve Resolution 2022-16 – Fiscal Year 2023 Budget 
 
 
INFORMATION: 

 
SkagitTransit’s 2023 Preliminary Budget was presented for your review during the November 
2022 Special Board Meeting. Highlights, projections and changes to this budget include: 

 
Revenue Highlights: 

 2023 Sales tax revenues are budgeted at $15M.  2022 estimates are $16.6M 

 Fare revenues are budgeted at $684,500.  2022 estimates are $695,000 

 Total State and Federal grant revenues are budgeted at $9,702,769 
 

Expense Highlights: 
 

 2023 Budget includes newly completed compensation study results 
 

 Implementation of DRS beginning Jan 1 

 4.25% Cost of Living Allowance (COLA) increase for all employees Non-Represented 
and Represented 

 Total Capital Budget of $ including:  

o $2,187,831 to complete phase 1 of MOA 2 

o $3,664,972 for capital vehicle, equipment, route improvements, and IT 
equipment upgrades. 

 
Ther are no changes from the presented preliminary budget:  

 
RECOMMENDATION:  
 

Staff recommends the Board approve resolution 2022-16 approving the fiscal year 2023 
Budget.  



 
 

RESOLUTION 2022-16 
 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE SKAGIT TRANSIT BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
APPROVING THE FISCAL YEAR 2023 BUDGET 

 
 

WHEREAS, the required public hearing for the budget is to take place prior to adoption on December 
21, 2022; and 

 
WHEREAS, on December 21, 2022 the Skagit Transit Board of Directors did approve and authorize 
the required expenditures for the operation of Skagit Transit. 
  
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED AND IT IS HEREBY ORDERED, by the Board of Directors of 
Skagit Transit, that: 
 
Section 1 The budget for Skagit Transit for the fiscal year 2023 is hereby adopted and approved 

as follows: 

 Operating Budget 
   Revenues      $21,648,774   
   Operating Expenses     $21,265,681 

  Capital Budget 
   Revenues     $  3,924,395 
   Capital Expenses    $  5,832,055 
 
                            Transfer from reserves                                                          $  1,524,567 
 
Section 2 If any provision of this Resolution or the application of any person or circumstance is 

held invalid, the remainder of the ordinance, or the application of the provision to 
other persons or circumstances is not affected. 

 
Section 3 This Resolution shall be in force and take effect on January 1, 2023. 
 

PASSED in open public meeting this 21st day of December, 2022. 
 
 

       SKAGIT TRANSIT 
       SKAGIT COUNTY, WASHINGTON 
 
 
             

        Lisa Janicki, Chair Skagit Transit Board of Directors 
 
 
             
       Dale S. O'Brien, Chief Executive Officer 
ATTEST TO FORM: 
 
      
Whitney Davis, Clerk of Skagit Transit 
 



 
 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
      
Dannon Traxler, Counsel to Skagit Transit 



CAC REPORT 

December 13, 2022 
 

First and foremost, let the record show that the Skagit Transit Community Advisory Committee applauds the 
Skagit Transit Board of Directors for approving and implementing the agency employee Salary upgrades. 
 
Joe Kunzler gave public comment. 
 
Our guest was CEO candidate Crystle Stidham-Tinges with the Fresno transit authority. 
 
Questions fielded by members and appropriately answered were 

• The micro transit concept 
• Bus/ridership advertising 
• Zero-emissions technology 
• Commuter bus issues, and 
• Comparison of bus fare percentages. 

 
Skagit Transit is to be commended for hosting such a fine reception for the three CEO candidates.  CAC 
members in attendance were Chris and Judy Jones, Valerie Rose, and Robin Gosney. 
 
The first scenario training for CAC volunteers to staff a table at Skagit Station was held December 6, attended 
by Chris and Judy Jones, Robin Gosney, and Valerie Rose.  The purpose of having the table is to recruit for the 
CAC through conversation with travelers and accompanying literature, and to answer basic questions for 
passengers, and to assist Customer Service. 
 
Two transit marketing events were reported by CAC members, one attended by member Dick Phillips in 
November, and one hosted by member Louise Eden with the LaConnor library in December.  The latter will be 
December 28 and is a transit event for kids, educating them on riding the bus. 
 
Under staff reporting, Brad gave a brief board report, noted that snow routes and maps will be posted to the 
site and Umo app, and cited holiday closures. 
 
He was also happy to report a current increase in transit position applications, and hopes to have a drivers class 
of ten for early 2023. 
 
Our newest member, John Norman, took time to compliment the agency for taking time and steps to 
understand and act upon the needs of both ridership and employees. 
 
Regarding commuter buses, member Doris Brevoort, who is knowledgeable on commuter and connector buses 
into Snohomish and southward, suggests a needs assessment given to that ridership to ascertain what is 
working well in the daily commute and connections, and what could improve. 
 
Next meeting, January 10, 2023, with Zoom information coming soon. 
 
Respectfully Submitted, 
Judy Jones 
CAC Chair 


	Tuesday, November 22, 2022
	Staff Present
	Dale O’Brien, Executive Director
	Chris Stamey, Manager of Finance & Administration
	Jill Boudreau, City of Mount Vernon, Mayor 
	Members Absent:
	Providing Legal Counsel:
	Members of Public Present
	Members of the Public Present via Teleconference:
	2     Consent / Action Items:
	RESOLUTION NO 2022-15.pdf
	A RESOLUTION OF THE SKAGIT TRANSIT BOARD OF DIRECTORS

	Approve Resolution 2022-16 FY2023 Budget.pdf
	Revenue Highlights:

	RESOLUTION NO 2022-16.pdf
	Revenues      $16,648,774
	Capital Budget

	PASSED in open public meeting this 21st day of December, 2022.

	12 Skagit Transit December 2022 Board Agenda.pdf
	Regular Meeting
	Agenda
	1. CALL TO ORDER

	RESOLUTION NO 2022-15.pdf
	A RESOLUTION OF THE SKAGIT TRANSIT BOARD OF DIRECTORS

	RESOLUTION NO 2022-16.pdf
	Revenues      $21,648,774
	Capital Budget

	PASSED in open public meeting this 21st day of December, 2022.




